RECEIVED

Mar 02 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case Number 2020-000021

In the Matter of the Estate of Chris Combis,

Desa Ballard, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Chris Combis.....Respondent,

v.

George Combis, Diane Combis, and Chris Combis.....Defendants,

Of Whom, George Combis and Chris Combis are.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Brian S. McCoy
S.C. Bar No.: 002155
MCCOY LAW FIRM, LLC
378 E. Main St.
Rock Hill, SC 29730
Phone: (803) 366-2280
bmccoy@mccoylawfirm.com

Ty K. McTier
S.C. Bar No.: 102900

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR BY HOLDING CHRIS IN CONTEMPT WHEN THE LANGUAGE OF THE ORDER AND SUBPOENA WERE VAGUE, AND HE TIMELY PRODUCED A ROLEX WATCH THAT OBJECTIVELY FIT THE VAGUE DESCRIPTION?

- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR BY HOLDING GEORGE IN CONTEMPT WHEN HE PRODUCED TWO GUNS THAT DID NOT MATCH THE VERIFIED PETITION AND WAS NOT ORDERED TO PRODUCE AN ADDITIONAL FIREARM?

- III. DID THE LOWER COURT MISAPPLY THE LAW OF COMPENSATORY CONTEMPT BY FAILING TO TAILOR THE SANCTION TO PROVEN ACTUAL LOSSES OF RESPONDENT, AND BY CONSIDERING TIME SPENT BY A PARTY TO THE LAWSUIT?

- IV. DID THE LOWER COURT MISAPPLY THE LAW OF COMPENSATORY CONTEMPT BY FAILING TO TAILOR THE SANCTION TO PROVEN ACTUAL LOSSES OF RESPONDENT AND BY ORDERING A JOINT AND SEVERAL SANCTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of a long dispute between a brother and his sisters regarding the estate of their father, the late Chris Combis (“Pop”). Pop was a North Carolina resident, but developed dementia in 2006. During Pop’s final bout with dementia, Linda Combis, one of Pop’s daughters, took care of him at her home in Lancaster County, South Carolina. (11/14/17 T. at p. 94) (R. p. 0371).

After Pop’s death in South Carolina, disputes over Pop’s pour-over Will and Revocable Living Trust ensued. The disputes between the family members were ultimately consolidated in one case before the Honorable Judge Joseph A. Anderson in the Federal District Court of South Carolina. Judge Anderson carved out issues relating to items alleged to be in the estate to be heard in state probate court.

By Order dated March 13, 2014, the case was removed from the probate court to the court of common pleas before the Honorable Judge Brian Gibbons. (R. p. 0001).

On March 16, 2017, Respondent issued three subpoenas (collectively the “Subpoenas”) to George Combis (“George”), to his wife Diane (“Diane”), and to their son Chris A. Combis (“Chris”) (collectively the “Combises”). As relevant to this appeal, the subpoena to Chris commanded production of the “Original Rolex watch allegedly gifted to you by the deceased for appraisal” and the subpoena to George commanded production of “Any and all firearms allegedly received from or gifted to you by the deceased for appraisal . . .” (R.pp. 0900, 0903).

The Combises, through counsel, objected to the subpoenas. (March 30, 2017 Letter from Pellington to Ballard and Truslow) (R. p. 0909). On May 26, 2017, Respondent filed a Motion to Compel. (R. p. 0911). A hearing was held on July 31, 2017.

By Order filed August 8, 2017, the Court granted the motion to compel (the “MTC

Order”) and ordered that “the items sought for production in the subpoenas” be produced on or before August 15, 2017. (R. p. 0040).

On August 14, 2017, the Combises delivered a box of items to Respondent that they asserted complied with the subpoenas and the Court’s Order. (08/05/19 T. at p. 106-107) (R. p. 0645-0646). Subsequently, Respondent claimed that the items delivered by the Combises on August 14, 2017, were not the items compelled by the Subpoenas. (08/05/19 T. at p. 110) (R. p. 0649).

On August 28, 2017, Respondent filed a Petition for Rule to Show Cause¹ (“RSC Petition”), requesting the court to hold the Combises in contempt for allegedly violating the MTC Order. (R. p. 0167).

A hearing on the RSC Petition was held on November 14, 2017, November 17, 2017, and August 5, 2019. On the first day of the hearing, Chris Combis produced a different Rolex watch in case it was the one being sought by Respondent, and on the second day of the hearing George Combis produced a different firearm.

On October 17, 2019, counsel for Respondent filed an Attorney Fee Affidavit, and attached as an exhibit a “Pre-Bill” with time entries and descriptions of the services. (R. p. 0952). On the same date, Respondent filed an “Affidavit of Desa Ballard Regarding Personal Representative Fees,” and attached as an exhibit what appears to be a bill from her law firm setting forth dates, amount of time billed, and a description of services. (R. p. 0957).

On October 21, 2019, the court filed its Order of Civil Contempt as to George Combis and Chris A. Combis (the “Contempt Order”). (R. p. 0057).

On October 31, 2019, George and Chris filed a Motion to Reconsider. (R. Appendix). A

¹ Under the Rules of Civil Procedure, there is no provision for a “Rule to Show Cause” as exists under the family court rules. The applicable rule of civil procedure is Rule 37.

hearing on the Motion to Reconsider was held on December 18, 2019.

On December 31, 2019, the Court filed an Order Granting Motion for Reconsideration in Part and Denying in Part. (R. p.0080) (the “Reconsider Order”).

Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on January 1, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The issues underlying this appeal stem from two of the three Subpoenas served by Respondent in March of 2017 in a probate estate case. The first subpoena was issued to Chris (the “Chris Subpoena”), and it requested the production of the “Original Rolex watch allegedly gifted to you by the deceased for appraisal.” (R. p. 0900). The second subpoena was issued to George (the “George Subpoena”), and it requested the production of “Any and all fire arms allegedly received from or gifted to you by the deceased for appraisal as well as contents of the safe in which the deceased stored cash and documents.” (R. p. 0903). The third subpoena, which is not involved in this appeal, was issued to Diane (the “Diane Subpoena”), and it requested the production of “[c]oins allegedly received from the deceased.” (R. p. 0906).

As set forth above, Appellants objected to the subpoenas, Respondent filed a Motion to Compel, and the court granted the motion by the MTC Order. The MTC Order merely required that “the items sought for production in the subpoenas” be produced on or before August 15, 2017, and it did not further clarify the items sought by the subpoenas. Prior to that deadline, on August 14, 2017, Appellants’ counsel delivered a box to Respondent’s counsel that included:

- a. Four rolls of pennies;
- b. Ten sealed packages of various coins;
- c. Five blue encased coins;
- d. One firearm;

- e. One holster;
- f. One empty detachable magazine; and
- g. One Rolex watch.

(R. p. 646).

The Respondent claimed that the items delivered by the Combises on August 14, 2017, were not the items compelled by the subpoenas. (08/05/19 T. at p. 110; the Petition). (R. p. 0649).

FACTS SPECIFIC TO CHRIS – WATCH ISSUE

Respondent testified as follows regarding her knowledge of Pop's Rolex Watch(es) at the time the subpoena to Chris was prepared: "And there had never been a suggestion that there was more than one Rolex. This was news to me, because all I had been told by anybody is there was one gold Rolex owned by Pop." (11/17/17 T. at p. 93) (R.p.0515). Despite her belief that there was only one Rolex watch, and despite her knowledge that it was gold, the subpoena to Chris in March 2017 requested the production of: the "Original Rolex watch allegedly gifted to you by the deceased for appraisal." (R. p. 0900). Thus, the only description of a watch sought by the subpoena was "Original Rolex." Chris timely produced a Rolex watch in response to the MTC Order that he believed was the original Rolex of Pop. Moreover, Respondent did not provide a more detailed description of the Rolex watch apparently sought by the subpoena until after Chris timely produced the silver Rolex watch. In the RSC Petition, instead of "Original Rolex," the watch being sought was described as "an 18k Rolex watch, with a Presidential, solid gold bracelet-band . . . [and] a brown walnut face." (RSC Petition p. 8) (R. p.0174). It was further described as having "Pop's initials engraved on the back" and that the engraving "was changed to 'C.A.C.'" *Id.* While this description was not entirely accurate, it at least provided sufficient information to allow a determination of which of the two Rolex watches was sought.

At the first day of the hearing on the RSC Petition, Chris produced a second watch that was a gold Rolex (*See* 11/14/17 T. at p. 28) (R. p.0299). The testimony at the hearing was uniform that there were two Rolex watches given by Pop to his grandson Chris. One was stainless steel and silver and gold in color, and the other was gold in color. (11/14/17 T. at p. 22) (R. p.0293).

During the hearing, Chris testified regarding the Rolex watches as follows:

- Pop owned two Rolex watches, one was a stainless steel silver and gold Rolex, and the other was a gold Rolex with a brown face. (11/14/17 T. at p. 22) (R. p.0293);
- Pop gave him both watches as gifts in the early 2000s. (11/14/17 T. at pp. 26, 62) (R. p. 0297, 0333);
- Chris produced the stainless steel Rolex believing that it was Pop’s “original Rolex watch” referenced in the subpoena. (11/14/17 T. at pp. 28, 30, 40, 41, and 46-47) (R. p. 0299, 0301, 0310, 0311, 0316-317);
- Chris described the silver stainless steel watch as the “original watch” because it was the watch Pop wore every day. (11.14.17 T. at pp. 35, 52) (R. p. 306, 323);
- Chris denied knowing the silver Rolex was not an authentic Rolex. (11/14/17 T. at pp. 35, 37, 67) (R. p. 0306, 0308, 0338);
- Chris denied any additional watches were given to him by Pop. (11/14/17 T. at p. 66) (R. p. 0337);
- After reviewing the RSC Petition, Chris believed the watch Respondent sought was the gold Rolex and not the silver Rolex. Prior to seeing the RSC Petition, he had not seen a document mentioning a gold Rolex. (11/14/17 T. at p. 62) (R. p. 0333);

With respect to the Rolex watches, Diane testified that she had no knowledge that one of the watches was fake, but she did testify that Pop would wear the silver stainless-steel watch to work, that it was Pop’s watch, and that it was the “original Rolex”. (11/14/17 T. at pp. 110-111) (R. p. 0381-0382).

Respondent called an expert witness, Larry Garris, to testify about the Rolex watches. He testified that the stainless-steel silver Rolex was a “fake” Rolex. (11/17/17 T. at p. 17) (R.

p.0439). He further testified that if a lay person thought the stainless-steel watch was real, it would not surprise him. (11/17/17 T. at p. 20-21) (R.p.0442-0443).

FACTS SPECIFIC TO GEORGE – FIREARMS ISSUE

The Lower Court’s Contempt Order arises from language in the subpoena issued by Respondent that George failed to produce “ANY AND ALL FIRE ARMS ALLEGEDLY RECEIVED FROM OR GIFTED TO [GEORGE] BY THE DECEASED FOR APPRAISAL AS WELL AS CONTENTS OF THE SAFE IN WHICH THE DECEASED STORED CASH AND DOCUMENTS”. (R. p.0903).

In her Petition, the Respondent claimed that the gun produced by George in August of 2017 was not Pop’s gun. (R. p. 0175). In fact, she swore that the items produced were not the items subject to the subpoenas. The Verified Petition went at length to describe why the items produced were not a part of Pop’s estate. (*Id.*). In the Petition, she further claims that Pop owned other guns, including “a heavily-engraved, .22 caliber pistol with real pearl grips”, a Colt .45 1911 and a 30:06 bolt-action rifle with a scope. (*Id.*) Respondent alleges that Pop took them to his company in the years before his death, and they subsequently disappeared. *Id.*

Respondent admitted at the first day of the contempt proceeding that the items produced were produced timely, they were just the wrong items. (11/14/17 T. at p. 12, 19) (R. p.0283, 0290). All guns described by Respondent were completely different from those produced and ultimately there was no order to produce a specific gun. (R. p. 0167 & p. 0057).

During the hearing Diane Combis testified regarding the firearms as follows:

- As to the .22 and the 30-06 rifle, she testified that she had no knowledge of those items. (11/14/17 T. at p. 118) (R. p. 0398).
- Upon receiving the George Subpoena, she opened the safe and George retrieved the items in the safe. (11/14/17 T. at p. 87-88) (R. p. 0358-0359).

- She denied knowing anything about the .22 caliber pistol with pearl grips, and she denied seeing other guns (including a rifle) in her house. (11/14/17 T. at p. 114-119) (R. p. 0395-0390).

The only witness with any direct knowledge of the guns called by the Respondent was Linda Combis. During the hearing Linda testified regarding the firearms as follows:

- Linda stated that neither George nor Diane ever indicated that they had Pop's guns. (11/17/17 T. at p. 40) (R. p. 0462).
- She "guessed" that the guns were somehow moved to Superior Tile when Pop was still running the company. (11/17/17 T. at p. 39) (R. p. 0461). Further she admitted that Pop did not tell her that he took the guns to the company, and that allegation in the Verified Petition was also a complete guess. (11/17/17 T. at p. 39-40, 56) (R. p. 0478, 0461-0462).
- When pressed about the contents of the inventory on cross-examination, she admitted that none of the two guns produced were those listed in the Petition. (11/14/17 T. at p. 51) (R. p. 0322).
- She testified that based on Pop's then condition, if he had taken the guns to the company, they could still be hidden somewhere today. (11/17/17 T. at p. 56) (R. p. 0478).
- She also spoke about a possible .38 caliber gun but stated that she had no clue what happened to it. (11/17/17 T. at p. 54) (R. p. 0476).
- She testified that she did not know where the Colt .45, .38, .22 or rifle were located. (11/17/17 T. at p. 38-39) (R. p. 0460-0461) and did not have any pictures of the guns. (11/17/17 T. at p. 70) (R. p. 0492).
- When showed one of the pistols produced by George, she testified that it was not the pistol Pop carried with him (11/17/17 T. at p. 39) (R. p. 0461) and that Pop's gun had fancy pearl engravings. (11/17/17 T. at p. 48) (R. p. 0470).

When asked whether one of the little guns produced was the .38, Linda said no because she still had it in her possession! (11/17/17 T. at p. 55) (R. p. 0477). The only possible gun that any witness still knows about that could be a part of Pop's estate was with the only beneficiary who lived with Pop at the time of his death. (11/17/17 T. at p. 55) (R. p. 0477). Conveniently, that gun was not listed as an asset of Pop's estate. (R. p. 0877).

Most importantly, Linda, the only person with direct knowledge as to any gun owned by

Pop, testified that George and Diane never indicated to her they had any of the guns at any point. (11/17/17 T. at p. 39-40) (R. p. 0461-0462). Further, Diane's testimony on the first day of the hearing showed that the second gun was not a .22, but a .25 caliber which was not one the guns that Respondent listed in the RSC Petition. (11/14/17 T. at p. 116) (R. p. 0538).

Contempt Order Holdings Relating to Chris

In the Contempt Order, the lower court acknowledged that Chris timely produced a stainless-steel silver Rolex watch, and then at the beginning of the hearing he produced a gold Rolex, which was provided to the Respondent, who later had it appraised. (Contempt Order Findings ¶ 6) (R. p.0065). The court also acknowledged that Chris testified that he believed that the silver Rolex watch that he timely produced was the "Original Rolex" sought in the subpoena. (*Id.* ¶¶7, 10) (R. p. 0065-0066). However, the court found that "the watch produced to Ballard pursuant to this Court's Order was not a Rolex, so Chris A. did not respond to the subpoena at all. The Court find [sic] Chris A.'s explanation that he did not know the difference between a fake Rolex and a real Rolex lacks credibility and the Court find [sic] that it was the intent of Chris A. to mislead Ballard and the Court." (*Id.* ¶10) (R. p. 0066).

The Court further found that Chris produced the stainless-steel Rolex rather than the gold Rolex "because he considered the fake Rolex to be the 'original' Rolex, and that is what the subpoena asked for." But the court also found that "Chris's position is not credible and is disingenuous at best." (*Id.* ¶17) (R. p.0067).

The court held Chris in "civil contempt of this Court's Order of August 8, 2017." (*Id.* p. 21) (R. p.0077). The court noted that "[c]ivil contempt is purgeable; that is once a violating party comes into compliance the sanctions are lifted." (*Id.*). The court reviewed the "itemized billings

and attorney fee affidavits of both Ballard and Mr. Truslow,” which fees and costs totaled \$52,000 for Ballard and \$52,000 for Truslow.

“[A]s a result of George and Chris Combis being held in civil contempt of court, I find and conclude that George and Chris are hereby committed to the custody of the Lancaster County Detention Center, each to serve a sentence of ninety (90) days, suspended however upon them being jointly and severally liable in the amount of \$70,000 . . .” (*Id.* p. 22) (R. p. 0078).

Contempt Order Holdings Relating to George

In the portion of the Contempt Order dealing with firearms, the lower court found that “George has two (2) pistols owned by Pop. The admissions of his prior counsel establish this fact. One of them may or may not be the silver, heavily engraved handgun that Pop sometimes carried. Pop may have owned more guns, however, there is *insufficient evidence* to establish this.” (R. p. 0069). *Emphasis added.*

The lower court also listed George’s testimony in a separate and different case and found without any specific citations to the record that “George’s lack of respect for this Court is concerning and his conduct has made it clear that he intends to obstruct these proceedings in every way he can.” (R. p.0070).

The Contempt Order goes on to penalize George for “provid[ing] no explanation for his failure to produce the second pistol . . .” (R. p. 0070) that no witness could identify as ever belonging to Pop despite being well within his rights not to testify at the hearing. The Contempt Order did not further compel any additional firearms. The Contempt Order also stated with regard to Diane Combis that “The Court is not making any findings as to what property was (or was not) part of Pop’s estate in this hearing, but for the purposes of this contempt hearing, there is no evidence to suggest that the Carson City silver dollar was Pop’s and/or part of Pop’s estate,

and therefore it could not be compelled by the Diane Subpoena and/or the MTC Order. ” (R. p.0074). The same analysis regarding whether the gun(s) were or were not a part of Pop’s estate was not afforded to George.

Order Granting Reconsideration in Part

After Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider, and a hearing was held on the Motion to Reconsider, the court issued an “Order Granting Motion for Reconsideration in Part and Denying in Part” (“Reconsider Order”) on December 31, 2019. In the Reconsider Order, the court modified the final two paragraphs of the Contempt Order. (Reconsider Order pp. 1-2) (R. p.80-81). The modification appears to clarify that the lower court did not award the Respondent attorneys’ fees, but instead ordered Appellants to pay a “sanction” to Respondent as “compensatory contempt.” *Id.* The Reconsider Order required the \$70,000 sanction to be paid the same day that the order was issued, or the 90-day incarceration period for failure to pay the sanction would be enforced. *Id.*

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Abuse of discretion is the proper standard for discovery sanctions. *Father v. South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 353 S.C. 254, 578 S.E.2d 11 (2003). “An abuse of discretion may be found where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law.” *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., Inc.*, 327 S.C. 538, 542, 489 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1997).

ARGUMENT

“It is well settled that contempt results from willful disobedience of a court order; and before a person may be held in contempt, *the record must be clear and specific* as to acts or conduct upon which the contempt is based.” *State v. Bevilacqua*, 316 S.C. 122, 129, 447 S.E.2d 213, 217 (Ct. App. 1994) (emphasis added).

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