RECEIVED

Mar 11 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000021

In the Matter of the Estate of Chris Combis,

Desa Ballard, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Chris Combis,
Respondent

v.

George Combis, Diane Combis, and Chris Combis,
Defendants,

Of Whom, George Combis and Chris Combis are the
Appellants,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Douglas N. Truslow
Neal D. Truslow
Truslow & Truslow Law Firm
Post Office Box 1465
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
803.256.6276
803.256.7659 Facsimile
douglastruslow@truslowlaw.com

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

ARGUMENTS

ISSUE ONE - CHRIS

Chris argues on appeal that he genuinely believed the fake Rolex he produced was the “original” Rolex sought in the subpoena and the order of contempt should be reversed because Ballard did not establish he was sophisticated enough to know a fake Rolex from a real Rolex.

Chris was not a party to this action until he was served with a subpoena to deliver Pop’s “original Rolex” to Ballard for appraisal. He was, however, reported by his counsel to have possession of Pop’s Rolex watch. (R. p. 507, lines 10 - 17). It was that watch for which a subpoena was served on Chris¹⁴. (Subpoena).

On appeal, Chris argues that he “timely produced a Rolex watch in response to the MTC Order that he believed was the original Rolex of Pop.” (App. Br. p. 10). He testified that Pop had an older stainless and gold Rolex, and he claimed that was the “original” Rolex gifted to him by Pop. (R. p. 293, line 17 – p. 294, line 3; p. 299, line 10 – p. 30, line 5; p. 305, line 19 -23).

the second pistol appeared in the courtroom. Appellants introduced the second pistol into evidence. (R. p. 731, lines 10-18).

¹⁴ We now know from Chris’s testimony that he never saw the subpoena or the court order requiring him to produce the subpoenaed item. He got an email from his attorney, Joe Pellington (R. p. 299, lines 11- p. 300, line 1) which set in motion the events which led to Chris (and George) being held in contempt.

Pop, did, in fact, have a stainless and gold Rolex that he sold to Linda's ex-husband in the early 1990s. (R. p. 451, lines 7-18). The Rolex that Pop owned at the time of his death was an 18k gold Rolex watch with a presidential band with professional engraving on the back. (R. p. 450, line 17 – p. 451, line 2; p. 451, line 19 – p. 452, line 8). Linda described the watch in detail, which she personally knew. Pop's Rolex was identical to the Rolex Pop's wife Jesse had, the only difference being the color of the face. (R. p. 451, lines 1-6)¹⁵. At Jesse's death, Linda inherited her mother's gold Rolex watch. *Id.*

Ballard's investigation determined that Pop had one gold Rolex at the time of his death. (R. p. 506, line 21 – p. 507, line 17). Ballard had examined photos of Pop wearing his gold Rolex for many years prior to his death. (R. p. 515, line 20 – 25; p. 516, lines 22-23). In the period immediately preceding his death, Pop was at an assisted living facility and he got "panicky" thought he had lost the gold Rolex. (R. p. 455, line 1 – 12). Diane took the Rolex for safekeeping and confirmed to Linda that she had it. *Id.* line 13 – 19).

Ballard filed the Rule to Show Cause in August 2017, after a fake Rolex had been produced in response to Judge Gibbons' order compelling production of the Rolex and other items.

In a deposition shortly after that, in September 2017, George said that he had the real gold Rolex that had been Pop's, and Pop had other Rolexes as well. (R. p. 518, lines 1 - .p. 520, line 17). George went out of his way at the Sept/Oct. 2017 depositions to

¹⁵ Pop lived with Linda from 2000 until his death in 2009. (R. p. 449, line 17 – 20). Linda had to wash Pop's gold Rolex with a toothbrush because he wore it all the time and it would get dirty and need to be cleaned. (R. p. 451, line 1 – 6; p. 453, lines 14- p. 454, line 4).

suggest Pop had multiple Rolexes, which occurred immediately after the fake Rolex had been produced in response to Judge Gibbons order, and after Ballard had filed the Rule to Show Cause (R. pp. 167-178). Linda Combis confirmed that the fake Rolex produced in response to the order compelling production was not Pop's watch. (R. p. 453, lines 6-13).

Clearly, the story about there being multiple Rolexes was manufactured to provide a defense for Chris in the Rule to Show Cause hearing. George was deliberately evasive about which Rolex was which in his deposition. (R. p. 1010 line 1 - p. 1019 line 3; R. p. 519, line 19 – p. 523, line 20). In fact, he wore one gold Rolex when the deposition convened in September 2017 but did not wear it when the deposition reconvened in October 2017, claiming he had gifted the Rolex to one of his grandsons. (R p. 1083; R p. 521, line 6 – p. 524, line 20). The gold Rolex that George was wearing on the first date of his Sept./Oct. 2017 deposition, and that he was not wearing when it reconvened a few weeks later, was worth more than \$5,000.00. (R. p. 522, lines 10 – 19¹⁶).

The only reasonable conclusion is that, after having been caught producing a fake Rolex, it was the joint intent of George and Chris to create a cover story for why a fake Rolex was produced in response to Judge Gibbons order compelling production. This occurred after four (4) years of litigation which focused, *inter alia*, on Pop's single gold

¹⁶ George testified in his deposition in Oct. 2017 that he had gifted the gold Rolex he had been wearing when the deposition recessed in September, 2017 to his grandson. (R. p. 1083; R. p. 521, line 6 – p. 524, line 20). Had that been true, George would have been violated a stay issued in North Carolina to secure the trust's judgment against George and Diane during their appeal. (R. p. 522, 20 - p. 524, line 5).

Rolex (and confirmation from their attorney that Chris had Pop's [only] Rolex). (R. p. 506, line 24-25; P. 507, lines 9 – 17;).

George was arrogant and disruptive during his deposition¹⁷. He refused to bring any of the documents which had been subpoenaed, saying "I felt like I didn't need to bring anything" and confirmed he made no effort to "look for any documents" to respond to the subpoena. (R. p. 1009, lines 3-20). He testified he had purchased "40 or 50" Rolexes from different sources, and "enjoy them for a little while and then sell them, give them away." (R. p. 1010, lines 20 – 23; p. 1014, lines 18 – 25). He refused, even after his counsel told him he could answer, to divulge the contents of his safe, stating it to the court reporter "And you can capitalize that if you want to." (R. p. 1011, lines 11-24).

Q. I could hear part of it. You turned to the court reporter and said, you can capitalize that?

A. Yeah.

Q. Does that mean you are emphatic that you're not going to –

A. Right.

Q. You're winking and putting the thumbs up, meaning you refuse to tell us what assets you may have in your safe?

¹⁷ George's arrogance permeated these proceedings almost from the beginning. Judge Gibbons viewed an email from George to Ballard's counsel Truslow which said, *inter alia*, "I TOLD YOU BEFORE – STOP WASTING MY MONEY ON YOUR STUPID NEED TO KNOW STUFF. All you and our so called 'ASSISTANT' Desa is doing is running up your fees." (R. p. 1122) (emphasis in original).

A. Correct.

(R. p. 1012, lines 1-10).

With reference to the actual Rolex that belonged to Pop, George testified that he gave his father a Jubilee Rolex in 2008¹⁸. (R. p. 1015, lines 22- p. 1016, line 1; p. 1016, line 22 - 23). George then backtracked and said Pop had borrowed George's own Rolex to "impress a friend and then he bought his own and gave me that one back." (R. p. 1016, lines 3-5).

A. I gave it to my son, Chris, with the stipulation that it was my watch and if you – I didn't want him to go out and sell it or trade it because there was a little bit of sentimental value in giving it to my dad. So my dad got – got his self another one and then I gave this¹⁹ watch to Chris and, again, with the stipulation that don't sell it, or, you know – for another one or whatever."

(R. p. 1016, line 20 – p. 27 line 1). The gift from George to Chris was "maybe '10 or '11".

(R. p. 1017, lines 2-10).

Q. The other watch, what happened to it? The other Rolex watch that your father had?

¹⁸ Pop's original Rolex was a gold Rolex that he identified in his 2003 trust agreement, designating it to be a gift to his grandson Chris after his death. (R. p. 808). Pop amended his trust in 2008 to delete that provision and others. (R. p. 871).

¹⁹ This testimony was also false. Lauren Combis, Chris's estranged wife, tried on the real gold Rolex which was mysteriously produced by counsel for the Combises on the first day of trial and confirmed this was the watch Chris had that was re-styled for her. (R. p. 402, lines 10 - p. 403, line 24).

A. He kept –

George's counsel: Objection.

A. My father kept it.

Q. Do you know where it went, what happened to it?

A. Yeah. He told Diane to take and sell it or do whatever and – but we kept it and that's what we turned in a month to (pauses) – . . .

Q. So from the time your father gave it to you, it's been in yours and Diane's possession?"

George's counsel: Objection.

A. Yes.

(R. p. 1017, lines 11-25).

Q. And what did your son do with the watch that you said your father gave to you and you gave to Chris in 2010/2011? Where is that watch?

George's counsel: Objection.

A. I have it.

Q. You still have it?

A. Yes.

Q. . . . where is it?

A. (Indicates).

Q. That's what you're wearing today?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 1018, lines 1-13).

Chris argues on appeal that Ballard had the obligation to introduce evidence that he was sufficiently sophisticated to know a fake Rolex from a real gold Rolex. Since no one filed a response to the Rule to Show Cause, it was not until Chris testified that it became apparent that George's deposition testimony was the seed planted to introduce the story about multiple Rolexes. With everyone represented by the same attorney, Ballard really has no idea who produced the box that contained the fake Rolex. It came from the law firm that represented George, Diane, and Chris. Clearly, George knows a lot about Rolex watches, having purchased more than 50 during his lifetime.

The cover letter from the Combises' lawyer accompanied a single box, which contained items ordered produced from three separate subpoenas. The cover letter itself made no distinction as to who was delivering what. (R. p. 928).

George testified that he was the one who placed the watch in the box before it was sealed (for delivery to Ballard). (R. p. 1069, line 13 – p. 1072, line 21). Chris testified that he had turned the watch over to his counsel. (R. p. 301, line 2 – 20).

Chris testified at the hearing, gratuitously, that Pop had two Rolex watches. (R. p. 293, line 24 – p. 294, line 4; lines 20-25). Chris also testified that George’s testimony that Pop’s Rolex was given to Chris in 2011, two years after Pop died, was false. (R. p. 297, lines 2 – 8).

Chris emphasized in his testimony that Pop had “two” Rolex watches and that Pop had given him both. (R. p. 297, line 9 – p. 299, line 17.) It was during Chris’s direct testimony that the only real Rolex was pulled from the pocket of the Combises’ counsel. *Id.* Chris was cagey about when he turned over each of the watches to his counsel. (R. p. 300, line 2 – p. 301, line 15).

However, his familiarity with the watches became apparent when he demonstrated to Ballard’s counsel how to open the band on the watches and pointed out what Chris said was engraving on the watch. (R. p. 301, line 21 – p. 302, line 15). While holding both watches at the hearing, Chris admitted that the real Rolex was heavier because “gold weighs.” (R. p. 306, lines 3 – 15). While he denied knowing the watch that was produced was not a real Rolex, he freely admitted the difference in the weight of the watches. *Id.*

In retrospect, the record demonstrates Chris’s counsel carefully objecting to individual questions to assist his client in narrowing his testimony to blur the lines of which watch was the real Rolex, and which was not and when Chris turned over the fake one versus the real one. (R. p. 307, lines 11-14; p. 307, line 22 – p. 308, line 4). Chris kept on script carefully. (R. p. 311, lines 21-25).

Lauren Combis, Chris’s estranged wife, cleared up the confusion. She said the gold Rolex (the one held back and suddenly pulled from counsel’s pocket during the hearing)

was a Rolex given to Chris by George, and that Chris had redesigned for her to wear. (R. p. 402, line 7 – p. 403, line 11). Lauren testified that Chris had a link removed from the real Rolex so it would fit her, and it did fit her. (R. p. 403, line 15 – p. 404, line 14). Lauren recalled that the family wanted to keep Pop’s Rolex in the family. *Id.* Lauren returned the real Rolex to Chris when he had to attend some legal proceeding. (R. p. 404, lines 1-3; lines 23-25; p. 407, line 4 – 16). Lauren gave the real Rolex to Chris “because he needed it for this whole mess.” (R. p. 407, lines 13-16).

Chris’s counsel attempted to try to convince Lauren she was mistaken. She was firm. “That’s the watch that after Pop died, Chris gave it to me. He had it fixed up, links taken out, presented it to me. It was beautiful, I wore it.” (R. p. 408, line 6– p. 409, line 9). She said the face had been changed since she surrendered it to Chris, but it was the same watch he had given her because it had the same crude scratching that she remembered. (R. p. 402 line 7 – p. 403, line 24; p. 404, lines 7-14)

Judge Gibbons specifically said that he judged the credibility of the witnesses. (R. p. 63, ¶ 18).

The . . . findings . . . are based on the exhibits, my deliberate and careful review of the testimony as well as the credibility of the witnesses and the weight of the testimony. I have carefully observed each witness, and I noticed such things as their tone of voice, gesture, hesitation or readiness to answer questions, their sincerity and mannerisms, all of which assisted in my evaluation of their credibility. (R. p. 63, ¶ 18).

While George did not testify²⁰, he was animated in the courtroom and Judge Gibbons could not escape George's performance. During Linda Combis's testimony, she answered a question about the number of safes George had in his house. Linda said "I believe he has a couple." (R. p. 466, lines 9-12). A few minutes later, Judge Gibbons stopped the proceedings and called George down for his behavior in the courtroom.

Going back to the question about five minutes ago about the number of safes. I don't know Mr. Combis. I assume the person sitting behind you. . . is Mr. George Combis. He's sitting beside the witness that's been identified as Diane Combis. I'm going to take judicial notice of the fact that when his sister's up here and testifying and she said I don't know the number, he said – he mouthed the word six and held up six fingers, and he's nodding his agreement that there is – there must be six safes in his house. . . so you may want to talk to your clients about trying to communicate with the witnesses while they are on the witness stand.

(R. p. 468, line 13 – p. 469, line 2).

While George did not affirmatively testify in his defense to the Rule to Show Cause, his behavior in the courtroom did not go unnoticed. Judge Gibbons observed George and Chris's behavior in the courtroom and factored that into his conclusions about credibility. Judge Gibbons didn't believe George and Chris. Judge Gibbons correctly concluded that Chris and George willfully kept the real Rolex and produced a fake Rolex to Ballard to thwart the authority of the court.

The timing of the second Rolex story becomes apparent when juxtaposed against the production of the items by the Combises to Ballard in August 2017, the filing of the

²⁰ George's testimony was offered by Ballard via depositions taken in September and October, 2017.

Rule to Show Cause, also in August 2017, and George's depositions in September and October 2017, where the story of multiple Rolexes was born. The story materialized when Ballard called foul on the production of the fake Rolex and the Combises had to come up with an explanation for why they produced a fake Rolex²¹ rather than Pop's gold Rolex.

ISSUE TWO - GEORGE

George argues that he should not be held in contempt for producing a cheap pistol that was not Pop's because he finally produced a second cheap pistol at the hearing in this matter. However, he never produced any pistols that were Pop's.

Before George decided to stop cooperating, George's attorney told Ballard that Pop had several guns and that George had them. (R. p. 508, lines 6- p. 510, line 1). George and Diane confirmed to Ballard that they had property of Pop's, including guns. (R. p. 500, line 21 – p. 501, line 4). Even after the items were subpoenaed, they refused to turn anything over. (R. p. 509, line 24 – p. 510, line 1).

George also argues that he cannot be held in contempt because the subpoena didn't sufficiently describe "the pistol" that was Pop's. Ballard testified that she repeatedly asked for details of Pop's guns and George's counsel refused repeatedly to send pictures, tell her the make and model, or disclose anything at all about Pop's guns. (R. p. 508, lines 2 – 18). Ballard said after judgment was entered against George and Diane in the District Court, she issued subpoenas for the items she needed to complete the estate proceeding. (R. p.

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